STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

 ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

SEP 07 2017

CC Court Reports

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

AARON BAYNARD GRISWOLD,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001215

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial court err in finding there was a sufficient basis for the chain of custody for the videos of children involved in sexual activity found on three computers from Appellant Griswold's residence after the judge found that the computers were non-fungible but the contents of the computers may be considered fungible, and the two people who extracted the evidence from the computers did not testify for the chain of custody which was a violation of the Confrontation Clause?

2.

Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's motion to exclude from evidence the videos depicting the actual showing of children participating in sexual acts which was extremely prejudicial to Appellant because the videos were inflammatory and were not needed to substantiate material facts because the state presented the detailed summary prepared by Special Agent Wasaik, the SLED forensic computer examiner, which listed each video and included an explicit description of the child's sexual actions?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 22, 2015, the York County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Aaron Baynard Griswold on twenty-seven counts of sexual exploitation of a minor third degree, and four counts of sexual exploitation of a minor second degree that occurred in 2007. R. 8, ll. 20-23; R. 544 – 623. On May 23-27, 2016, nine years after the incident, Griswold proceeded to trial before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III and a jury. Appellant Griswold was represented by Michael Atwater, and the state was represented by Lloyd Flores of the Attorney General's Office.¹ The trial judge granted defense counsel's motion at the close of the evidence to dismiss the four counts of sexual exploitation of a minor second degree, and instructed the jury not to consider those indictments. R. 391, ll. 14 – R. 392, ll. 21; R. 432, ll. 5-13. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all of the indictments for sexual exploitation of a minor third degree. R. 448, ll. 3 – R. 450, ll. 19. The judge sentenced Griswold to ten years on each of the twenty-seven charges with all to run concurrent, and required that he register as a sex offender. R. 461, ll. 1-20. Defense counsel requested an appeal bond since the sentences were for ten years concurrent. Pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 18-1-90, the judge did grant an appeal bond in the amount of fifty-four thousand dollars with the conditions for a sex offender to apply. R. 469, ll. 9-19. A notice of appeal was timely filed. This appeal follows.

¹ This case was prosecuted by the Attorney General's Office under the Internet Crimes Against Children Division. R. 24, ll. 7-10.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Brian Honig was a good friend of Appellant Griswold's when he lived near Griswold in Rock Hill in 2007. Honig called Griswold by his nickname "Bay." R. 27, ll. 1-8; R. 28, ll. 1 – R. 29, ll. 22. Several other young men visited Griswold's home frequently during that time. These included George Masetti; Jim Burnette; Michael Walters; and Chris Parsons. R. 389, ll. 10 – R. 390, ll. 10.

Honig had "sporadic" employment during that time so he used Griswold's computer to look for jobs and respond to emails. R. 31, ll. 2-7; R. 33, ll. 4-10. On June 1, 2007, he had taken his MP3 player to listen to music while he used the computer. In order to use the MP3, he had to use Windows media player. When he opened Windows media, a video of child pornography began playing. He could see a "faint child" in the video. He said that he closed it quickly. He thought the child was between six and eight years old. The child was performing "fellatio." R. 33, ll. 2 – R. 34, ll. 11.

After he saw the video on Griswold's computer, Honig was very "conflicted" as he did not know what to do because Griswold was a close friend. He did not report it to police immediately, but did contact the police a "day or two later." He went to the police station and gave a statement. His memory was very vague about the incident. He did not tell Griswold what he had seen on the computer. According to Honig, Griswold entered the password for him to use the computer. R. 35, ll. 4 – R. 37, ll. 21.

Detective Charlene Blackwelder was with the Rock Hill Police Department in 2007. R. 58, ll. 16 – R. 60, ll. 25. On June 4, 2007, she was contacted by Lieutenant Vaughn who directed her to obtain a statement from Brian Honig which she did. She then proceeded to obtain a search warrant for Griswold's residence. She went to that residence and seized five computers and

turned them into evidence. That was the end of her involvement in the case. R. 61, ll. 4-22. The people at the home during the execution of the search warrant were Rebecca Griswold who was Griswold's mother, George Masetti, James Barnette, and two other officers. Griswold was not present. R. 63, ll. 17-25. Detective Blackwelder at trial described the five computers and where they were found:

State's Exhibit 6 (SLED Item 2) was found in the attic; R. 71, ll. 1

– R. 72, ll. 25.

State's Exhibit 7 (SLED Item 4) found in Griswold's bedroom; R.

73, ll. 8 – R. 74, ll. 18.

State's Exhibit 8 (SLED Item 1) found in living room; R. 75, ll. 1 –

R. 76, ll. 8.

State's Exhibit 9 (SLED Item 5) found in Rebecca Griswold's

bedroom; R. 76, ll. 10 – R. 77, ll. 8.

State's Exhibit 10 (SLED Item 3) found in Griswold's bedroom; R.

77, ll. 10 – R. 78, ll. 2.

Detective Blackwelder reported that the computer from the attic was not operable and had not been used. R. 69, ll. 12-20.

Detective Kathy Harveston was with the Rock Hill Police Department in 2007. She was involved with Griswold's case. R. 38, ll. 25 – R. 40, ll. 25. She was to determine what material was on the computers. She sent the five computers to the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) for a forensics evaluation where SLED would have to go inside the computers and retract any data in the computer. She became the case agent. R. 41, ll. 5-25.

According to Detective Harveston, she received a report from SLED Special Agent Farand Wasaik who did the forensics analysis of the computers in 2007. He compiled all of the information on a disc, and a password was needed to review it. R. 42, ll. 1-20. Detective Harveston indicated that the attorney general's office had the computers re-examined but she did not know when. R. 42, ll. 21-25.

At Griswold's trial on May 23 -27, 2016, in a pretrial motion, the state moved to admit the summary prepared by Special Agent Wasaik of the "contents of the digital electronic files" from the computers. The state also stated that they planned to show portions of the videos about five to ten seconds in length showing the minors engaged in sexual activity. The summary would include a description of the contents of all of the electronic files. R. 9, ll. 4 – R. 10, ll. 13.

Defense counsel argued against the showing of the videos to the jury because they were not needed and were prejudicial to Griswold under Rule 403, SCRE. Counsel argued that the videos were inflammatory and shocking to the conscience. R. 10, ll. 20 – R. 16, ll. 5. Counsel cited the case of United States v. Cunningham, 694 F.3d 372 (3rd Cir. 2012) which held in that case that the videos were so inflammatory that they should not have been admitted to the jury. R. 12, ll. 2 – R. 16, ll. 14. Counsel argued that the videos and images were more prejudicial than probative and were cumulative. R. 48, ll. 8-21.

Defense counsel was willing to stipulate that each and every file admitted into evidence "contained a depiction of something that would meet the statutory requirement for the purpose of the indictments." R. 13, ll. 13 – R. 14, ll. 2. The state did not agree to the stipulation and argued that the "state did bear a burden of showing exactly what the videos contained." The state's counsel said that the state must prove their case. R. 14, ll. 5-25.

The judge ruled that the summary was admissible under Rule 1006, SCRE. R. 46, ll. 11-23. He also ruled that the unindicted crimes were not admissible. R. 47, ll. 1 – 48, ll. 1. The judge also ruled that the videos were not cumulative but substantive. The judge found that pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, that the “relevancy of the clips that’s represented is not substantially outweighed by any unfair prejudice.” He said that the contents were a type to influence prejudice, portions of the files were “relevant and necessary and essential” to the state proving its case. The judge disagreed with the Cunningham case. R. 49, ll. 1 – R. 57, ll. 5.

During the trial, the state called Special Agent Farand Wasaik to testify about his forensics analysis of the computers. Before the agent’s testimony, defense counsel asked the court for a motion in camera. Counsel argued that the information on the examination of the computers by SLED indicated that a man named Pantsari at SLED in 2007 extracted information from the computers and entered that information into a database; then prepared reports as to what he did; and then entered the information into a system that provided that information to Special Agent Wasaik. In 2014, when the computers were examined by SLED, a Mr. Suggs followed the same procedure as Mr. Pantsari. Then Agent Wasaik, on both occasions, looked at the information these two men removed from the computers on his own computer and prepared reports from that. R. 82, ll. 16 – R. 83, ll. 23.

Counsel’s objection was that neither Pantsari nor Suggs were present for cross examination and that was a violation of the Confrontation Clause. Counsel talked about the chain of custody but said this was more of a Confrontation Clause issue. The state argued that these were non-fungible items for the chain of custody. The judge explained that defense counsel’s concern was the gap between recovery of the data from the non-fungible items and the person testifying as to what was on the non-fungible items. R. 82, ll. 16 – R. 85, ll. 10. Later,

defense counsel argued that he was “attacking” the chain of custody in that he did not think the “chain has got to Agent Wasaik.” Counsel argued that the evidence of the chain went from the residence to the Rock Hill Police, and then there was Wasaik on the witness stand testifying as to what was on the computers. Counsel said he was arguing the chain of custody and the Confrontation Clause violation because Pantsari and Suggs were not present at trial. Counsel told the court that the 2014 examination was not covered in the chain of custody. The state explained that starting in 2007, the computers went from the house to the Rock Hill Police, to SLED, back to Rock Hill, to the attorney general’s office, back to SLED, back to Rock Hill, and then to trial. R. 104, ll. 10 – R. 106, ll. 22.

A proffer was then held with Special Agent Wasaik testifying. He explained that he was a forensic computer examiner with SLED. He explained the process SLED used in examining computers. The hard drive was removed, and a date time check was done. The hard drive was then connected to a write blocker which was one way traffic to transfer out the data so a “bit by bit” copy was made of the hard drive. Then the hard drive was placed back into the computer and locked in evidence. That process was called “imaging.” Then the copy or image of the hard drive was put to a server and Wasaik worked from that image on a server from his desk. R. 85, ll. 15 – R. 87, ll. 13. Pantsari did all of the imaging in 2007, and Suggs did all of the imaging in 2014. R. 91, ll. 23 – R. 93, ll. 21.

The image was verified with a “hash value.” A hash value number was assigned which represented all of the data within the “piece of media.” That was called the “acquisition hash” which was the hash value at the beginning of the imaging process. When the process was completed, there was a “verification hash” which showed that the amount of data was the same

as at the beginning which meant that the data had not been manipulated. R. 87, ll. 14-25. The hash value was a summary of all the data in a device. R. 95, ll. 21 – R. 96, ll. 8.

On cross examination during the proffer, Agent Wasaik admitted that he had never seen the hard drive and he could not testify that the hard drive that came from the computers was the same hard drive in them at the Rock Hill Police Station. Wasaik also did not see the hard drives when the computers were returned to SLED in 2014 by the attorney general's office for reexamination. He based everything on the paperwork. He relied on the work product of Pantsari and Suggs. The summary that he prepared (State's Exhibit 11), was part of the work product of Pantsari and Suggs. R. 91, ll. 13-22; R. 105, ll. 21 – R. 106, ll. 9; R. 95, ll. 15 – R. 96, ll. 8.

Defense counsel again objected to the two men, Pantsari and Suggs, not being available for cross examination which was the violation of the Confrontation Clause. R. 98, ll. 1 – R. 99, ll. 7. The state argued that these imaging records were records kept in the regular course of business and were non-testimonial. R. 99, ll. 8-25. The judge inquired of Agent Wasaik how he verified that the information he reviewed was the one originally on the computer. Wasaik said the acquisition hash value and the verification hash value were the same showing no data was manipulated. R. 100, ll. 1-24.

On re-cross, Wasaik admitted that the hash value was just the volume of information on the computer. It did not tell what the information was nor where anything was stored. It simply provided that the amount of information was the same. Or if any information had been added or removed. R. 102, ll. 9 – R. 104, ll. 5. Counsel also argued that the second time the computers were examined in 2014 was not included in the chain of custody. The state argued that the hash

values were the same for the first examination and the second examination which covered any chain issues. The judge agreed. R. 105, ll. 6 – R. 106, ll. 23.

The judge ruled that the hash values were sufficient for the chain of custody for both examinations. The judge found that the function performed by Pantsari and Suggs was a “mechanical” function. Therefore, the judge found, the information that was examined was the same as the information that was on the computers before they were “plugged in” by Pantsari and Suggs. He allowed Agent Wasaik to testify concerning these issues. R. 107, ll. 1 – R. 110, ll. 21.

Agent Wasaik then testified before the jury regarding the proffered testimony. He said that he investigated Internet crimes against children. R. 112, ll. 1-14. When the CD with the summary report he prepared from his examinations of the computer in 2007 titled “State v. Griswold, 2007 Forensic Examination” was admitted into evidence as State’s Exhibit Four, defense counsel objected. The judge overruled the objection. R. 122, ll. 19 – R. 123, ll. 22. The state explained that State’s Exhibit Four contained the videos and the report. R. 195, ll. 1-24. Agent Wasaik defined some of the search terms used to find child pornography on a computer which included “Kingpass, PTHC which stood for Preteen Hard Core, 8YO which meant eight years old, and Hussy Fan.” R. 180, ll. 14 – R. 181, ll. 9.

Agent Wasaik testified that three of the five computers contained images of child pornography. These were:

State’s Exhibit Seven which was SLED’s Item Four from

Griswold’s bedroom;

State’s Exhibit Eight which was SLED’s Item one from the living

room;

State's Exhibit Ten which was SLED's Item Three a Dell computer.

R. 128, ll. 1 – R. 129, ll. 2. He examined the other two computers but no items containing minors were found. R. 129, ll. 4-8.

Wasaik also prepared forensic reports which did not include the images from the videos for those three computers. R. 131, ll. 1-17.

State's Exhibit Twelve for the computer in the living room or

State's Exhibit Eight, SLED's one;

State's Exhibit Thirteen for the Dell computer or State's Exhibit

Ten, SLED's Item Three;

State's Exhibit Fourteen for the computer from the bedroom or

State's Exhibit Seven, SLED's Item Four.

Defense counsel objected to the admission of each of the reports. R. 131, ll. 23 – R. 132, ll. 7; R. 134, ll. 1-18; R. 136, ll. 1-19.

The state told the judge during a break that the state had selected five videos to show very short portions less than thirty seconds of the children in sexual activity. Defense counsel asked if these videos were already in evidence, and the state responded that they were. These videos were located on the 2007 forensic report by Wasaik that was admitted into evidence as State's Exhibit Four. R. 194, ll. 23 – R. 196, ll. 25.

On direct before the jury, the state told Agent Wasaik that the state was going to play a portion of five videos from the computer found in Griswold's room. This included State's Exhibit Thirteen which was the forensic report for that computer or State's Exhibit Ten. R. 202, ll. 16-25. The videos were published to the jury. R. 203, ll. 1-4.

The first one was Video Three which was entitled "PTHC, Hussy Fan exclamation point (3) new Tammy and Friends zero six dot avi." Video Two's title was "Hussy Fan, PTHC" exclamation point (3); "ALL IS NEW AND GOOD," and then Linda, zero, zero,zero, one, dash one, dot avi. R. 203, ll. 1-25. Video Seven's title was "Kinderficker PTHC PTSC." Video Twenty was titled "(PTHC Shocking, 6YO fuc, with some dot mpg, .mpg.) Video Twenty-Three was titled One (7.mpg). R. 204, ll. 1-25.

The state then asked Wasaik if he had seen the twenty-seven movies or electronic files found on the computer listed as State's Ten which were listed in his forensic report marked as State's Exhibit Thirteen. Agent Wasaik said he had seen all twenty-seven videos. Each was listed in the summary he prepared for the state marked as State's Exhibit Eleven. His summary contained:

The title, the name of the movie or how it's titled, a description of it, a detailed description of it, and also the length of the movie, or the video file.

R. 205, ll. 1 – R. 206, ll. 3.

The state then asked for the summary or State's Eleven be admitted into evidence. The judge said it was admitted subject to the earlier ruling and over objection. The state confirmed with Agent Wasaik that all of the videos listed in his summary were found on the computer marked as State's Ten. R. 206, ll. 1-21.

Agent Wasaik admitted that there was nothing to show that Griswold actually viewed the videos. If the time the file was created and the last time it was accessed as shown by time on the computer were the same that meant that the file was only downloaded onto the computer but was not opened. Wasaik agreed. R. 240, ll. 18 – R. 242, ll. 19.

On cross examination, defense counsel asked Agent Wasaik about each of the thirty-one indictments and compared each with the computer file where that description in the indictment was located. It was also cross referenced to Agent Wasaik's forensic report. On each of the files described in the indictments, the date the file was created and the date it was last accessed were the same. R. 207, ll. 7 – R. 242, ll. 23; R. 243, ll. 13 – R. 327, ll. 22.

The defense did call a witness, Pat Boone, who was the lady that had lived at Griswold's residence in 2007. Her son lived there also. She described the young men who were frequent visitors in Griswold's home. Brian Honig came over frequently and used the computers. Others who came over frequently included George Masetti, Jim Burnette, Michael Walters, and Chris Parsons. Ms. Boone eventually moved to the duplex next door when Griswold's mother moved in with him. R. 387, ll. 1 – R. 390, ll. 25.

In his closing argument to the jury, the state argued that they had to show the jury some of the videos. The state's attorney said that when Brian Honig saw the videos, that was something "you never forget." He said that Honig was in shock. R. 424, ll. 12 – R. 425, ll. 9.

Defense counsel told the jury that he did not believe it was necessary that the jury had to see the videos. He said the facts and their inferences were sufficient for the jury to make a decision. He apologized to the jury for their having to see the videos. R. 396, ll. 25 – R. 397, ll. 17.

While the jury was out deliberating, the trial judge said he wanted to put something on the record. He said he thought "we're in the twilight zone involving the chain of custody." He then said: "I think the Court's going to kind of have to address this." R. 444, ll. 16-23.

He went on to explain that there was no question that the computers were non-fungible items. However, they contained material which was not real fungible but it was too. He called it

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