ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2016-001215

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Aaron Baynard Griswold,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

SEP 08 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2016-001215

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court correctly admitted the videos and analysis from the three computers because the State established a chain of custody as far as practicable when all persons coming into contact with the computer data were identified and the manner of handling was reasonably demonstrated.**

The trial court correctly admitted the videos and analysis found on three of Appellant's computers. To the extent necessary, the State established a chain of custody as far as practicable identifying all persons and the reasonable demonstrating the manner of handling. Further, the State provided significant authentication based on the hash values of the hard drives and the information tying the hard drives directly to Appellant. Finally, a full chain of custody should not be necessary because the data is non-fungible.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 388, 577 S.E.2d 498, 500 (Ct. App. 2003). "The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." Id.

"The 'chain of custody' rule is but a variation of the principle that real evidence must be authenticated prior to its admission into evidence." United States v. Howard-Arias, 679 F.2d 363, 366 (4th Cir. 1982).

[A] party offering into evidence fungible items such as drugs or blood samples must establish a complete chain of custody as far as practicable. Where an analyzed substance that has passed through several hands, the identity of individuals who acquired the evidence and what was done with the evidence between the taking and the analysis must not be left to conjecture. Accordingly, if the identity of each person handling the evidence is established, and

the manner of handling is reasonably demonstrated, no abuse of discretion by the trial court is shown in admitting the evidence absent proof of tampering, bad faith, or ill-motive.

State v. Sweet, 374 S.C. 1, 6, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205-206 (2007) (emphasis added) (citing Benton v. Pellum, 232 S.C. 26, 33, 100 S.E.2d 534, 537 (1957); State v. Taylor, 360 S.C. 18, 25, 598 S.E.2d 735, 738 (Ct. App. 2004)); see also State v. Kahan, 268 S.C. 240, 244-45, 233 S.E.2d 293, 294 (1977) (holding the standard stated in Benton v. Pellum had been met where the evidence was transported in accordance with normal protocol, even though every person who may have handled it was not personally identified and there was no testimony regarding the care and handling of the item for an interval when it was being stored).

“South Carolina law does not require testimony as to the exclusion of any possibility of tampering.” State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 187, 603 S.E.2d 910, 915 (Ct. App. 2004). The Courts of this State have found evidence inadmissible only where there is a missing link in the chain of possession because the identity of those who handled the evidence was not established at least as far as practicable. State v. Carter, 344 S.C. 419, 424, 544 S.E.2d 835, 837 (2001). “In other words, where there is a weak link in the chain of custody, as opposed to a missing link, the question is only one of credibility, not admissibility.” Carter, 344 S.C. at 424, 544 S.E.2d at 837. Importantly: “Whether the chain of custody has been established as far as practicable clearly depends on the unique factual circumstances of each case.” South Carolina Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Cochran, 364 S.C. 621, 629 n.1, 614 S.E.2d 642, 646 n.1 (2005).

In Cochran, the South Carolina Supreme Court stated “we have never held the chain of custody rule requires every person associated with the procedure be available to testify or identified personally, depending on the facts of the case.” Cochran, 364 S.C. at 629, 614 S.E.2d at 646. The Court in Cochran found: “Generally, we will uphold the chain of custody if the

safeguards instituted ensure the integrity of the evidence, even if every person associated with the procedure is not personally identified.” Id.

In State v. Williams, 297 S.C. 290, 376 S.E.2d 773 (1989), the Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the trial court to admit blood test results even though the nurse who had drawn the blood of the defendant and placed it in the hospital refrigerator did not testify. Nurse Yorke, who was not the nurse that drew the blood, testified at trial. She indicated she removed the blood sample from the locked hospital refrigerator the morning after the accident and took it to the lab for testing. According to Nurse Yorke, the vial was labeled with appellant’s name, patient number, date of birth, and the date the blood was drawn. The hospital’s internal chain of custody form was initialed by Nurse Burns, the nurse who drew the blood, indicating she had obtained the sample from appellant and then locked it in the refrigerator. Under those circumstances, the Supreme Court ruled that the initialed form complying with hospital protocol and Nurse Yorke’s testimony sufficiently established a chain of custody to allow admission. Id. at 293, 376 S.E.2d at 774.

This Court has also noted: “[W]here the handling of the evidence is reasonably demonstrated, a weakness in the chain implicates credibility, but does not render the evidence inadmissible.” State v. Taylor, 360 S.C. 18, 24-25, 598 S.E.2d 735, 738 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing State v. Kahan, 268 S.C. 240, 244, 233 S.E.2d 293, 294 (1977) (ruling the ballistics test results of a nightgown worn by the deceased and placed in the evidence locker in a plastic bag were admissible even though there was no testimony as to the care and handling of the plastic bag containing the gown during the time it was in the evidence locker); State v. Smith, 326 S.C. 39, 482 S.E.2d 777 (1997) (affirming admissibility of blood tests even though the arresting officer stored the blood sample in his home refrigerator prior to testing, noting that there was no

evidence of tampering); State v. Johnson, 318 S.C. 194, 196, 456 S.E.2d 442, 444 (Ct. App. 1995) (upholding the admission of drug evidence where a discrepancy existed as to the dates of possession of persons in the chain of custody).

The Supreme Court has stated:

Courts have abandoned inflexible rules regarding the chain of custody and the admissibility of evidence in favor of a rule granting discretion to the trial courts. “The trial judge’s exercise of discretion must be reviewed in the light of the following factors: ‘. . . the nature of the article, the circumstances surrounding the preservation and custody of it, and the likelihood of intermeddlers tampering with it.’” “If upon the consideration of such factors the trial judge is satisfied that in reasonable probability the article has not been changed in important respects, he may permit its introduction in evidence.”

State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 94-95, 708 S.E.2d 750, 754-755 (2011). The Court in Hatcher explained: “The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simply to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be.” Id.

Appellant contends the State did not present a complete chain of custody because two individuals did not testify. In the instant case, even assuming the videos and data on the hard drives are fungible evidence, the State presented a chain of custody, and the State did not need to present the testimony of two individuals in the chain of custody because they were identified, their method of handling the evidence was sufficiently established, and other factors demonstrated the evidence was what it was purported to be.

The two individuals who were clearly identified but did not testify were Tony Pantsari and Kevin Suggs. The two individuals received the computers and were responsible for making images of the computers’ hard drives from which the analyst, Special Agent Wasiak, would conduct his forensic examination instead of utilizing the original hard drive. Special Agent

Wasiak explained the procedure used by Pantsari and Suggs when they received the computer.

He testified once the evidence is brought to SLED:

The hard drive is removed from the computer, at which point, without the hard drive being in the computer, a date time check is done on the machine, using the computer's bios function, which is just the date and time. The hard drive is not connected at all at this point in time. **So, no data to the hard drive is -- is manipulated.**

(T.150; R.86)(emphasis added). He continued:

The hard drive is then hooked up to what we call is a write blocker This write blocker enables only one-way traffic, data to -- to transfer out, but no data can come back in. Okay? And what we do is, we make a bit by bit copy of that hard drive. Okay? And that hard drive, **that original evidence, nothing is put -- no information is put on that.** Once that bit by bit copy is made, that hard drive is placed back into the computer and locked up into evidence. We call that imaging.

Once that hard drive is imaged, it is put to a server, which I work off that image on a server from my desk.

(T.151; R.87)(emphasis added). Pursuant to his testimony, no information is placed on the original hard drive once it arrives at SLED and they have steps in place to ensure the image (copy) of the hard drive is an exact match. The documentation of this process was included in State's Exhibits 4 and 5, the forensic evaluations performed by Special Agent Wasiak. (T.162; R.162).⁴

Further, the State need not eliminate any possibility of tampering. Rogers, 361 S.C. at 187, 603 S.E.2d at 915. Instead, the State need only demonstrate a "reasonable probability the article has not been changed in important respects." Hatcher, 392 S.C. at 94-95, 708 S.E.2d at 754-755. Special Agent Wasiak explained the program used by SLED creates an "acquisition" hash value prior to starting the imaging process. This is the DNA summary of the hard drive as

⁴ On State's Exhibit 4, the SLED documentation the procedure was followed is found in "Forensic Worksheets.pdf" found in a folder labeled "Additional." On State's Exhibit 5, the SLED documentation the procedure was followed is found in "Imaging Worksheets.pdf" found in a folder labeled "Additional." Special Agent Wasiak also discussed the intake sheets and the information submitted. (T.455-456; R.353-354).

it exists at that time and as discussed above, any change to the hard drive would result in a change to the hash value. Each image created, in this case one by Pantsari and one by Suggs, has a “verification” hash value performed after the copying is complete to verify they are the same as the original. As explained by Special Agent Wasiak, this “verification” hash “shows that that hash value is still the same as when we started, **therefore showing that we do not manipulate any data.**” (T.151; R.87)(emphasis added). The jury was presented with the “acquisition” and “verification” hash values for each of the computers containing child pornography and could verify they were the same value. (State’s Exhibits 12, 13, and 14; R.476-529). It is also significant that both Pantsari and Suggs generated the same hash values for each of the drives, meaning nothing about the drives changed between 2007 and 2014.

Additionally, as discussed above the chain of custody rule is used to authenticate evidence before it is admitted in court, to ensure that the item of evidence is what it purports to be. See Hatcher, 392 S.C. at 95, 708 S.E.2d at 755 (“The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simply to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be.”); United States v. Howard-Arias, 679 F.2d 363, 366 (4th Cir. 1982) (“The ‘chain of custody’ rule is but a variation of the principle that real evidence must be authenticated prior to its admission into evidence.”). The authentication of the hard drives in this case was enhanced by the presentation of evidence on the hard drives which clearly linked Appellant to the hard drives. This included the credit card application; web pages accessed which clearly belonged to Appellant; and bank account information.

Also, Special Agent Wasiak noted the file created dates for all the videos of child pornography. He stated the file created date is the date the file is put onto the hard drive. If the file is then copied to another hard drive, it would have a different file created date on that drive.

(T.260; R.182). He explained the operating system established the file created dates and that they were not dependent on any input by a person. (T.319; R.241). Special Agent Wasiak also explained that a person cannot manipulate these dates by going in and manually changing them. (T.319; R.241). Examining the file created dates for the various videos of child pornography found on the computers indicate all of the files were created prior to the computer being seized by officers with Rock Hill Police Department. (State's Exhibits 12, 13, and 14; R.476-529). The fact all the files were on the hard drives prior to the computers being seized and taken to SLED, coupled with the fact the hard drives contained evidence linking their use directly to Appellant, is significant evidence indicating there was no tampering with the computers and that the hard drives are what the State purported them to be.

While the State did not present the testimony of the two agents who created the images, the State identified the individuals in the chain, presented sufficient evidence a process existed to ensure the images remained accurate and without manipulation, and documented the process was followed. Further, the State fully authenticated the hard drives through the use of the hash values, file created dates, and information contained on the hard drives linking them to Appellant. The trial court properly concluded the State sufficiently established a chain of custody to authenticate the hard drives and the data on the hard drives.

II. The trial court properly allowed the State to play the small portions of the videos which formed the basis of the charges against Appellant because their probative value in establishing the elements of the charge greatly outweighed any prejudice.

The trial court properly allowed the State to prove its case by playing small portions of several of the videos forming the basis of five of the twenty-seven indictments for third degree sexual exploitation of a minor. The videos were highly probative based on the elements of the offense the State was required to prove. Further, any prejudice did not substantially outweigh the probative value and the State minimized any possible prejudice to Appellant.

“The appellate court reviews a trial judge’s ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court.” State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) (emphasis added). Further, “[t]his Court reviews 403 rulings pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard, and gives great deference to the trial judge’s decision.” State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 48, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004); see also State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003) (“A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.”) (emphasis added).

“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is **substantially** outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice” Rule 403, SCRE (emphasis added). “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir.1993)); see also, State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000); United States v. Rodriguez-Estrada, 877 F.2d

153, 156 (1st Cir.1989) (“[A]ll evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be avoided.”).

“A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” “We review a trial court’s decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court’s judgment.” State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014) (quoting State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003)).

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